
 

LEGEND KEY 

 

A.Main Bastion  - S.W. Angle 

B. Bastion -  N.E. Angle 

C. Driveway 

D.Sally-Port 

E.Steps to footpath & Village 

F. Breast-Works to West  

   Stockade 

G. Inner Wall of Defense 

H. Main Blockhouse - 30’x18’ 

I. Addition to Main Block-                 

   house 16’x 14’ 

L. Armory Stores 12’ x 12’ 

    Separate Building 

O. Grand Fireplace with                                            

    Oven 

P. Fireplaces with Chimneys 

S. Catch Basin 

V. Main Ditches & Traces of           

    Them 

W. Main Walls & Traces of            

    Them 

X. Well 15’ Deep 

Y. Watering Trough for Stock 

Z. Sink 
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You Are Standing Here!    

West Side of Fort 

Besides being the main exit 

from the Fort, the West side  

was an area planted with 

Grapes, Asparagus, Cher-

ries, Plums, gooseberries, 

Apple and Pear trees. This 

garden covered about 10 

acres. 

Conceptual Model of 1690 Huguenot Fort 

 

This model located in the Oxford Public Library was fabricated in 1986 by Oxford Middle School students under the di-

rection of now retired art teacher Paul R. Dowgiert of Charlton, Ma. Mr. Dowgiert had measured the foundation of the old 

Fort and, after researching historic French and Canadian Forts, he and his students built the historically accurate model. 

The Fort was placed on the National Register for Historic Places in July 1988. 

Sketch of Fort by William D. Ely 

Huguenot Grist Mill Site  

# 5 On Settlement Map 

 

 

In this retired spot, the kindly hand of nature has protected and pre-

served the handiwork of the Huguenot’s as it has been kept in no 

other locality in Oxford. Built for Gabriel Bernon by Caleb 

Church, a Millwright from Watertown, Massachusetts in 1689. The 

earthen-works and dam, along with the stone-works and raceway, 

are believed to be from the original construction.   

Huguenot Oak 

# 25 On Settlement Map 
 

 

 

Last remaining of the three (3) original Oak’s said to have been used by 

the Huguenot’s  to locate the path leading to the Fort. The first of these 

Oak’s was removed in the 1940’s to make room for a Gas Station adjacent 

to Fairlawn Avenue. The second one was removed in the 1950’s to make 

room for the widening of Main Street. The girth of this tree measured 

nearly six (6) feet at the time of it’s removal.  

The Oak pictured is located on the corner of Huguenot Road and Russell 

Lane. 

Huguenot Monument 

# 31 On Settlement Map 

 

 

Erected in 1884 by descendant’s of Gabriel 

Bernon, the Founder of the Colony, and Andre 

Sigourney, Commander of the Fort. In memory 

of the Huguenot’s exiles for their Faith, who 

made the first settlement of Oxford in 1687. 

Huguenot Fort Ruins  

# 2 On Settlement Map 
 

 

 

Foundation ruins of Huguenot Fort 

Block-House. Perimeter walls can be 

seen in the background. Photo taken in 

1892. 

Huguenot French Garden/ Vineyards 

# 29 On Settlement Map 

 

 

Located 1/3 of a mile from the Fort, at the end of a path 

with a perpendicular rocky slope. A garden and Vine-

yards were planted at the bottom of the slope. It was a 

protected area, very suitable for this type of gardening. 

Photo taken in 1890.  

Johnson (Jenson) Massacre Site 

# 7 On Settlement Map 
 

 

 

The Johnson house was situated on this site. On August 

25, 1696, John Johnson (Jenson), along with three (3) of 

his children; Andrew, Peter, and Mary were massacred 

in their home. The attack was lead by Toby, a Nipmuck 

Indian dwelling in Woodstock. This event was a precur-

sor of the long series of atrocities later enacted on the 

frontier. 

Huguenot Sites 

Huguenot Settlement Map 

Gabriel Bernon’s Plan of Oxford 



Current Headstone of 

Gabriel Bernon’s first 

wife, Ester Le Roy 

Common Burying ground where 

Gabriel Bernon’s 1st. wife, along 

with his son from his 2nd.  

Marriage is buried. 

Bernon marker near the  

Cathedral of St. John’s 

Original Headstone of 

Gabriel Bernon’s first 

wife, Ester Le Roy 

Gabriel Bernon Related Sites 

Providence, Rhode Island 

St. John’s Cathedral 

where Gabriel Bernon 

is entombed  

Andre Segourney: Bore the name of a locality in the province of Poitou, 

was Constable of New Oxford.  He was a distiller, moved to Boston after 

the break-up of the settlement, he and his family became wealthy leading 

citizens.    
 
 

Isaac Bertrand du Truffeau: Was the village Magistrate, as well as Ber-

non's agent.  He came from an important family in Poitiers  and, while in 

New Oxford, was married to Demoiselle Rochefoucauld, a lady said to be 

descended from one of the most noble families in France.   
 
 
 

Benjamin Faneuil: Came from a prominent merchant family in La Ro-

chelle.  His brother Andre, who was married to Bernon's sister, became one 

of the wealthiest merchants in Boston and built the famous Faneuil Hall as 

a market house.  François Bureau belonged to a noble family of La Ro-

chelle, his brother, Thomas Bureau, was one of the principal French mer-

chants of London. François' daughter married Benjamin Faneuil.  
 
 
 

The Baudouin family: Was one of the most important and ancient families 

of La Rochelle, and they possessed numerous seigneuries in the vicinity.  
 
 

 

Jean Baudoin: Of New Oxford, was the brother of James Baudoin of Bos-

ton, a distinguished merchant and member of the Colonial Council for sev-

eral years.   James left the largest estate that had ever been possessed by 

one person in the province; his son, James Bowdoin, became Governor of 

Massachusetts, and gave his name to Bowdoin College.     
 
 

Elie Boudinot: Had been a wealthy merchant in Marans, France.   
 

 

 

Captain Charles Germain: Was from a Catholic family of high position, 

being the younger brother of Count Germaine.  
 
 
 

René Grignon: Partner of Jean Papineau in the Chamoiserie, (wash leather 

mill), was also a silver and goldsmith.  A silver porringer that he made in 

1692 is in the Yale University Collection.  Earlier, Grignon had been a 

member of the Narragansett settlement in Rhode Island, which lasted from 

1686 to 1691.   From there, he went to New Oxford, where he remained un-

til it was abandoned in 1696.  During 1696-1699 he was elder of the French 

church in Boston.  After New Oxford was again abandoned in 1704, he be-

came master of a sailing vessel, and then settled in Norwich, Connecticut, 

where he was a successful jeweler and merchant until his death in 1715. He 

contributed a bell to the town of Norwich said to have been the bell from 

the Huguenot Colony in New Oxford ? 
 
 
 

Jean Papineau: Was a junior partner in the “Chamoiserie” with Rene 

Grignon. This wash-leather factory processed furs and skins and then 

shipped them to hat and glove factories in Providence and Boston.  
 
 
 

The two Ministers at New Oxford also deserve mention, since they 

were, perhaps, the most important leaders of the community 
 
 
 

Rev. Daniel Bondet: The first pastor, descended from a noble French fam-

ily, educated at Geneva, and able to preach in French, English, and Indian.  

Bondet served the New Oxford community from 1687 to 1695.  Later he 

became pastor of the French church in New Rochelle, New York from 

about 1697 until his death in 1722.   
 

 

 

Jacques Laborie of Cardaillac: Became the second pastor when New Ox-

ford was re-established in 1699.  He had completed the study of theology in 

Geneva in 1688, was ordained in Zurich, then went to London where he of-

ficiated at several French churches for about ten years.  In 1698 he came to 

America.  While serving at New Oxford he also served as missionary to the 

Indians.  After the abandonment of New Oxford in 1704, he was for two 

years pastor at the French church in New York City.  After that he practiced 

medicine and surgery, settling in Fairfield, Connecticut where he died about 

1731.  

Additional Information 

    Founder of the Oxford Colony 

Gabriel Bernon was a Huguenot and prominent merchant of an an-

cient family in La Rochelle, France, born in 1644, the son of Andre 

Bernon and Suzanne Guillemand. He fled that Country in 1686, after 

the revocation of the Edict of Nantes led to his religious persecution. 

He arrived in Boston (via Amsterdam and London) on board the ship 

Dolphin on July 5, 1688, with the intentions of establishing a settle-

ment at Oxford, Massachusetts; a plan that had evolved through his 

meeting with other refugees while in London. 

 

Bernon’s financial support made the settlement a reality for other 

French Huguenot families who sailed to America with him. He died on February 1, 1736 at 

the age of 92, in Providence, Rhode Island, and is buried in a crypt under St. John’s Cathedral 

in that city. He was tall and slender, and stood very erect and had a courtly manner. 

 

Bernon was also a successful merchant in Quebec, Canada where he ran the largest banking 

house in that city. Bernon was a writer and treasured his family papers and correspondence. 

The Bernon’s had a legitimate claim to nobility but chose not to accept this.  

 

In 1688, at the request of his agent in America, he came to New Oxford with his wife, three 

daughters and a son. He also brought with him forty persons for whom he paid passage. 

These people were among the best in France. Upon arrival in Boston, he and the refugees and 

Joseph Dudley, son of the Governor, came to Oxford by foot. He assumed the role of Capital-

ist or “Undertaker”. The journey took three days or more accompanied by lumbering wagons 

of household goods and farm implements. 

 

Bernon divided the lands according to an English custom called “turf and twig”. A piece of 

sod and a branch from a nearby tree was delivered to each purchaser. He agreed to build a 

Corn or Grist Mill, a Saw Mill, and a Wash Leather Mill near what is today called Lowe’s 

Brook, and to cover the cost of maintenance. Bernon and his family never actually lived in 

Oxford. He lived in Boston until the first break-up of the settlement, where he then relocated 

permanently to Rhode Island in 1697. 

 

He stayed in  Newport until about 1706, when he moved to Providence. He left Providence 

for Kingston in 1712 and lived there until 1718, then returned to Providence, where he stayed 

until his death in 1736. 

 

Bernon’s lasting mark on the history of Rhode Island, however, is in the area of religion. Ber-

non had been a member of the French Church, until his departure from Massachusetts. But in 

Rhode Island . . . . He became a fervent and zealous member of the Church of England. He 

was active in establishing churches in each of the Rhode Island towns in which he lived at 

different times during his nearly forty-years of residency; Trinity Church in Newport, St. 

Paul’s Church in Kingston, and St. John’s Church in Providence. These were Rhode Island’s 

earliest churches. Bernon’s home was located on North Main street in Providence, almost op-

posite St. John’s Church. 

 

Bernon also is the ancestor of Rhode Island’s oldest families, including Allen’s, Crawford’s, 

Dorr’s, Coddington’s, and Whipple’s. He was twice married, first to Esther Le Roy, whom he 

married in France in 1673, and who died in Newport in 1710; then to Mary Harris, whom he 

married in 1712. Each marriage produced one son in addition to several daughters; however, 

neither son survived to have children, so all of Bernon’s descendants are through his female 

children.  

Gabriel Bernon 1644– 1736 




